1952

# Lillian Jackson v. Zinda Jackson : Brief of Plaintiff on Appeal

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John and Lillian Jackson were married in Moab, Utah in the year 1896. There were 7 children born as a result of this union.

Prior to 1917 John Jackson became addicted to the use of intoxicating liquors and in 1917 Lillian Jackson filed divorce proceedings in Grand County, Utah, charging habitual drunkenness and cruelty, all as set forth in

the plaintiff's complaint. (Record, page 100 Ex. 11-12). Mrs. Jackson employed the firm of Patterson and Constantine to conduct her divorce proceedings, and they prepared and filed a complaint for Mrs. Jackson. (Record, page 12).

Up to this time they had accumulated property of the approximate value of \$50,000.00, consisting mostly of notes, mortgages, and other securities.

At the time the suit was brought, Mrs. Jackson had advised counsel that she and her husband had agreed upon a property settlement. After the divorce action was filed John and Lillian Jackson came to the office of Knox Patterson for the purpose of dividing the property so accumulated. John Jackson brought the securities with him, threw them on the desk and said to Attorney Patterson, "Here are all of our securities, split them fifty-fifty." Patterson immediately began listing the property for the fifty-fifty division.

While the property settlement was being worked out, Lillian Jackson said to John, what about the support of the children, as you agreed? John said, I will not pay any support money, I will divide the property equally and you will have to support the children. A violent argument broke out. Patterson interceded in behalf of Mrs. Jackson, telling John that he could not expect his wife to rear, and support 7 children on a 50-50 split of the property. John became angry at Patterson, picked up his securities and left the office. The divorce was abandoned.

John Jackson then moved his family to California. In 1918 apparently John Jackson wanted his wife to se-

cure a divorce. He employed counsel himself, had the marriage settlement of 1918 prepared. This was brought to Lillian Jackson for signature. She and the family, including a son-in-law and his wife, looked over the proposed property settlement and again she refused to sign the contract and stated to John that it was the same as at Moab, she got nothing for caring for the children. After much argument and discussion John Jackson then agreed that he would will to each of the children \$3,500.00 if Lillian Jackson would sign the agreement as prepared by John Jackson and his counsel.

Upon the strength of that promise and relying thereon, Mrs. Jackson signed the agreement as prepared. In good faith of John's promise to will the children \$3,500.00 each, he delivered to Lillian Jackson a certificate of the Woodmen of the World for \$1,000.00, which he represented was paid up, with the understanding that the \$3,500.00 which should go to each of the four girls should have \$250.00 each out of the \$1,000.00 certificate, which then stood in the name of Lillian Jackson as beneficiary. The certificate was so accepted by Lillian Jackson and she received delivery thereof and has ever since had the possession of said certificate.

At this time Mrs. Jackson asked John to draw the will but John told her he would not draw the will until the divorce was secured. Then Mrs. Jackson told John that she wanted Knox Patterson of Moab to draw the will. It was then agreed that he would return to Moab and after the divorce was granted and have Patterson draw the will, bequeathing to each of the children

\$3,500.00, less credit of \$250.00 to each of the 4 girls on account of the Woodmen of the World certificate.

After the divorce was secured, John Jackson wrote a letter to the W.O.W. asking for a change in the beneficiary of the W.O.W. certificate, making affidavit to the effect that said certificate, which has been delivered to Lillian Jackson, had been lost. A new certificate was then issued for \$1,000.00 running to the 4 girls who should share in the original certificate, to be deducted from their \$3,500.00 bequest. That was sometime in the early part of 1920. What became of this certificate to the four girls is not known so far as the Jackson family is concerned. However, it finally got to the new wife, whom he married immediately after the divorce.

Thereafter, on September 7, 1920, John Jackson came to Moab and to the office of Patterson and Constantine. He there related to Patterson that he and his wife, Lillian, had agreed upon a divorce settlement and that he agreed with Lillian that he would return to Moab and have Knox Patterson draw a will whereby he should will to each of the children the sum of \$3,500.00. He showed to Patterson the marriage agreement and he was asked by Patterson why there was nothing about it, the will, in the marriage settlement. John replied that, first, he did not want to make a will until after the divorce was obtained, and, second, that his wife wanted Knox Patterson to draw the will.

John Jackson then stated that the will bequeathing \$3,500.00 to each of the children should be off-set as to the 4 girls, to the extent of \$250.00, stating further that he



had delivered to Lillian Jackson a W.O.W. certificate for \$1,000.00 and that \$250.00 should apply to the bequests of each of the 4 girls, reducing their bequests to \$3,250.00. The will was drawn accordingly and as to the four girls the will reads as follows:

To Belle Dennis \$3,250.00 "she also to receive as beneficiary in my insurance policy with the W.O.W. to the extent of \$250.00." The same was written in the bequests to each of the girls.

All as shown in Exhibit I, proffered in testimony but rejected by the court. (Record, page 100).

This will, Exhibit I, was immediately sent to Belle Dennis, to her address in California, and their mother was immediately advised of this fact by Belle Dennis. Therefore, Mrs. Jackson, knowing that the will had been drawn was lulled into security as a result of the oral promise by reason of the execution of the will according to that oral promise. She never knew of the diversion of the W.O.W. certificate until after John's death. She never knew of the revocation of the will, Exhibit 3, by a new will of 1946, until after John's death.

Upon the oral agreement she immediately took charge and custody of the children, reared and educated them to maturity.

John Jackson, as a result of speculation on his 50 percent of the property divided, ran his fortune up to around \$100,000.00. (R. p. 220).

We duly filed a claim against the Estate, as required by law, and the claim was rejected, and suit was brought thereon.

We were required to amend our pleadings when the defendant set up the California Statute of Frauds. In doing so we qualified for the plea of estoppel.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I.

THE COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE EXCLUDED PARTS OF PLAINTIFF'S EVIDENCE AND SHOULD GIVE FULL CONSIDERATION TO UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE.

(a) PLAINTIFF MAY TESTIFY IN RELATION TO ORAL AGREEMENT.

(b) ATTORNEY MAY TESTIFY.

(c) TRIAL COURT MAY NOT REJECT UNDISPUTED TESTIMONY.

(d) SEPARATE WRITINGS RELATING TO SAME SUBJECT SHOULD BE CONSIDERED TOGETHER.

### POINT II.

THE COURT MISCONSTRUED THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS AND CONFLICT OF LAWS.

### POINT III.

COURT SHOULD HAVE CONSIDERED PLAINTIFF'S PLEA OF ESTOPPEL.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE EXCLUDED PARTS OF PLAINTIFF'S EVIDENCE AND SHOULD GIVE FULL CONSIDERATION TO UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE.

KNOX PATTERSON AS A WITNESS:

Attorney at law, residing in Moab. Acquainted with John Jackson and his wife. Did legal services for them, from 1909 to 1925. Not on a retainer basis. Had worked for Mrs. Lillian Jackson in 1917.

Patterson then offered evidence showing the drawing of the divorce complaint of 1917 and also offered testi-

mony with reference to a marriage settlement growing out of the divorce action; that the settlement was rejected by Mrs. Jackson because it gave her only one-half of the property but imposed upon her the support of the seven children. All of this testimony was rejected. (R., page 181).

In a day or two after the divorce action was signed, John Jackson and his wife came to my office with notes, papers, mortgages, and bills, and he threw them on my table and said, "Patterson, here is all I have got, and I want to split fifty-fifty." I took the papers and started to separate them, had a tablet, and was classifying them into two groups. Then Mrs. Jackson said, "You told me you would take care of the children." John said: "No, I won't take care of the children." Then Patterson got into an argument with him and told him he could not expect to divide his property fifty-fifty and have the wife take care of the children. John Jackson became angry with him, abused him, and walked out of the office. He heard nothing more about the divorce. Shortly after that he (John Jackson) left and took his wife and children to California. (R., page 181).

Afterwards, in 1920 John Jackson came back to my office and in the presence of myself and George J. Constantine stated to me he wanted to draw a will. The last time that I had seen him, he was mad and angry with me because he said I had sided with his wife about taking care of the children. He said his wife had divorced him and they made a marriage settlement and showed it to me. I said to Jackson, "Why didn't you put this part

about the will in this agreement?" He said, "In the first place, I wasn't going to draw any will until she got the divorce; and, in the second place, she told me that she wanted Knox Patterson to draw the will." And he came to Utah for that purpose. In regard to the marriage settlement which he showed me, he said that she told him that she would not sign it, and said, "No, this is just like the Moab Settlement, and I will not sign that unless you agree to take care of the children." And finally he told her he would will the children \$3,500.00 each if she would sign this agreement, and he said that the \$3,500.00 represented substantially what he had given his wife, so he wanted the will drawn whereby each child would receive \$3,500.00. So we started to draw the will. He said, "This isn't right. I said that I would make a will if she would sign this agreement, but I have delivered to her a Woodmen of the World certificate for \$1,000.00 that is to apply on the \$3,500.00 which I will to each of the girls." In other words, \$250.00 of that certificate would be awarded to each of the four girls, and so I drew the will accordingly. I am speaking of the will of 1920. The will shows that each of the boys got \$3,500.00 and each of the girls got \$3,250.00. (R., page 184-186).

I do not remember whether he paid me for drawing the will. He did not pay me for the divorce because he thought I hadn't given him a fair deal and that I had sided with his wife.

The Court: "You were acting for him as his attorney?"

Answer: "I was acting for his wife as her attorney,

because he told me that she had said that she wanted Knox Patterson to draw the will." (R. p. 186).

George J. Constantine and I witnessed the will. He told me to mail a copy to Belle Dennis at Orlando, California. George Constantine wrote and signed the letter and mailed it to Belle Dennis. (R., page 186-187).

After this controversy arose, I asked Mrs. Dennis to send me the will and she did. I received the \$1,000.00 Woodmen of the World certificate from Mrs. Jackson from California. (R., page 187).

#### JOE DENNIS' TESTIMONY:

"I reside in Fallon, Nevada. I am not an heir of John Jackson, but a relative. I am Belle Dennis' husband. She resides at Fallon with me.

"I have known John Jackson since 1913, when I married Belle. I was present at Orlando, California, in the spring of 1918 and lived in the same house with Mrs. Jackson, when John Jackson came to the house with the marriage settlement. Mr. and Mrs. Jackson, myself, and wife, and probably some of the children were present. I heard the discussion between John and Lillian Jackson about the marriage settlement. I did not take part in the discussion. (R., page 191). He handed her or gave her a marriage contract to sign and she read it over and said she would not sign it, that it was on a fifty-fifty basis and she would have to care for the children. They then started to argue and the argument started when they did settle down, he said, 'I'll tell you what I will do, I will make a will to give each of the children \$3,500.00 a piece.' She said, 'If you will do that, I will sign it.' So, he went

on and said, 'I will give you that Woodmen of the World, as down payment and he handed it to her. (Referring to the \$1,000.00 Woodmen of the World certificate). As down payment on the bargain.

"He was going to have the insurance policy made out when she got the divorce. He got the Woodmen of the World certificate out of his suit case.

"I had a further conversation with John Jackson in 1931, right here in Moab. Just he and I were present. He told me that he had a place out here that he would foreclose on, if Belle would take it over in place of the \$3,500.00 and we went down and looked at it, it was the Stewart place I think.

"I had another conversation with John Jackson in 1941. It was at the Moore place in Moab. That was in the fall of the year. My wife and I don't know, but seems like Sinda was there too. When we went down and looked at it John said she could have the place in the place of the \$3,500.00. He meant the \$3,500.00 mentioned in the will." (R., page 191 & 195).

#### CROSS-EXAMINATION:

"My wife is the daughter of Lillian Jackson. She is a sister of the brothers and sisters named as parties for which this action was brought. We are here together. I came to testify for her in the case. I would like to see her win the law suit. I would not like to see her lose everything." (R., page 193).

Now let us note Record, page 194, page 31 of transcript, when the above named witness, Joe Dennis, testified:



“\* \* \* we also object on the further grounds that it is hearsay, that this witness is an incompetent witness under the provisions of 104-49-2 Utah Code Annotated, dated 1943, commonly called the (Dead Man Statute). Also on the grounds that it is proffered testimony to prove an oral contract.

“THE COURT: ‘Well, the objection that it is hearsay and the objection that he is incompetent to testify, I will overrule. The objection that it is proffered testimony to prove an oral contract is sustained.’ ”

The testimony given by this witness was not proffered testimony, but testimony on direct examination where the records show he was free to testify.

Then the witness continued to testify at length. We are unable to say upon what theory the objection to the testimony as proffered testimony is sustained.

It is evident throughout, as shown by the transcript of testimony, that the Court excluded and meant to exclude any testimony in proof of an oral contract, regardless of performance, part performance, or estoppel.

(R., page 189, page 26 in transcript). “If you can show me anything that will take this case out of the Statute of Frauds, gentlemen, I would be happy to do so, but there is no writing shown to take the case out of the Statute of Frauds.”

(R., page 190, Trans. 27). “It is evidence of an oral contract, but understand that is just a part of it, yes, but it isn’t evidence of any writing or written agreement to take the case out of the Statute of Frauds . . . The California statute says that you can’t introduce oral evidence

to prove an agreement to make a will that is not in writing, the statute says that you can't do that."

(R., page 208, Trans. 43). "\* \* \* and that it is not admissible under the Statute of Frauds pleaded by the defendant, unless it is an attempt to show something in writing that tends to take it out of the Statute of Frauds."

(R., page 209, Trans. 44). "THE COURT. I won't permit you to prove that by this witness. I think she is incompetent in the first place and I don't think it will take the case out of the Statute of Frauds in the second place.

MR. PATTERSON: Because of an oral agreement?

THE COURT: Mr. Patterson, I don't think that it tends to prove fraud. I don't think that what you are going to ask her tends to prove part performance. You are trying to prove by her testimony an oral contract."

The Court, having taken this position that nothing short of a writing could prove the promise to make a will, it is remarkable that he ordered a pre-trial or permitted the case to go to trial at all. It is incomprehensible when we allege nothing but an oral contract in our complaint and the part performance thereof by the delivery of the Woodmen of the World certificate and the execution and delivery of the will, and the support and maintenance of all the children to maturity.

LILLIAN JACKSON, as a witness in her own behalf:

This witness was not permitted to testify except in a limited sense, to-wit:

I had a conversation with you (Knox Patterson) and



my husband, John Jackson, in your office prior to going to California with my husband and 7 children. One child was married, that was Joe Dennis' wife. I decided to get a divorce in California. I entered into a marriage settlement there with John. John and I had some controversy about the marriage settlement. (R., page 201, T. 36).

Mr. Patterson then made the following offer of testimony:

"MR. PATTERSON: We offer to prove by this witness, your honor, that after they had lived in California a short time, Mr. Jackson and Mrs. Jackson decided to get a divorce, and again the question of a property settlement came up, and he goes to his own lawyer and has a property settlement prepared, which was much along the lines as the one which was prepared in Moab, and he presented it to her for signature in her own home, in the presence of Belle and Joe, and she, after reading it over, said, 'no I will not sign that, that is just like the Moab Agreement and I will not sign it.' Then they fussed and argued there for a day or two and then John finally came to her and said, 'listen, if you will sign this, I will make a will, willing the rest of my property to the children, which will amount to \$3500.00 for each of the children.' They thought that over for a while and finally agreed and under those conditions she signed this agreement, which is void, there must be some consideration to support it."

THE COURT: Mr. Patterson I understand that she got her share in consideration of it?

MR. PATTERSON: Certainly, they split 50-50, she is entitled to that without taking care of any children.

THE COURT: I will not let her testify to that because of an oral agreement. (R., page 208-209, T. 43-44).  
LILLIAN JACKSON, RE-DIRECT:

Mrs. Jackson corrects herself on the date which she received the \$1,000.00 Woodmen of the World certificate and says the certificate was delivered to her in 1918; says she has talked to no one since her testimony of yesterday. (R., page 227).

#### DEFENDANT'S TESTIMONY:

Counsel identifies marriage certificate between John Jackson deceased, and Miss Zinda Cordova, married Oct. 3, 1921. John Jackson 46, Zinda Jackson 21. Also identifies ages of 6 children of the marriage of John and Zinda.

#### HENRY RUGGERI AS A WITNESS:

Testifies that he has examined the authorities of California with reference to the Statute of Frauds, cites the following cases:

Hagan v. McNary, 170 Cal. 141, 144, 148 P. 937; L. R. A. 1915E, 562; Trout v. Ogilvie, 41 Cal. App. 167, 182 Pac. 333; Demattos v. McGovern, 25 Cal. App. 2nd, 429; 77 Pac. 2nd, 522; Zaring v. Brown, 41 Cal. App. 2nd 227; 106 Pac. 2nd, 224; Smith v. Bliss, 44 Cal. App. 2nd 171, 112 Pac. 2nd, 30; Long v. Rumsey, 12 Cal. 334, 84 Pac. 146; Rotea v. Izuel, 14 Cal. 2nd 605, 95 Pac. 2dn 927, 164 Pac. and 914. (R. p. 220-224 & 228-230).

The Court says: “\* \* \* excluding proof of the alleged oral contracts to make a will I set forth the facts I could find IF I BELIEVED ALL OF THE EVIDENCE AND PROFFERED EVIDENCE.” (Emphasis ours).

Then the court sets forth by alphabetical paragraphs the matters he could find if he believed the testimony. Now quoting from Paragraph D of the possible findings:

“That plaintiff and John Jackson could not agree about a property settlement; that shortly thereafter plaintiff and John Jackson moved to California and abandoned the proceedings in Utah.” (R., page 112).

Now quoting from Paragraph E of the courts possible findings:

“That about April 22, 1918 plaintiff and John Jackson entered into a written property agreement in the State of California, wherein and whereby plaintiff agreed to accept property of the approximate value of \$28,689.00 and assumed custody and support of 5 children, ages 19, 13, 10, 6 and 3, respectively, and John retained property of the approximate value of \$20,434.00 and agreed to assume the custody and support of the child age 15.” (R., page 113).

Quoting from Paragraph F:

“That plaintiff employed the attorney who drafted said agreement.” (R., page 113).

Quoting from Paragraph G of the court’s possible findings:

“That plaintiff and John Jackson had an argument about this contract in the presence of their oldest daughter, Belle and her son-in-law, Joe Dennis, and plaintiff said that she thought it was not fair, it was a 50-50 division and she would have to support the children.” (R., page 113).

Quoting from Paragraph H:

“That at the time of said argument, John

Jackson handed plaintiff a Modern Woodmen of the World Life Insurance Certificate for \$1,000.00 \* \* \* in which plaintiff was beneficiary, and told her he would make out the policy when she got a divorce..” (R., page 113-114).

Quoting from Paragraph J :

“That in December, 1919, “plaintiff” hired an attorney and procured an interlocutory decree of divorce from John Jackson in the State of California on the ground of drunkenness and cruelty, \* \* \* and made no mention of a property settlement, alimony, or support money. That the judge who signed said decree was the attorney who drew the property agreement which was executed by the plaintiff and John Jackson.” (R., page 114).

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