1952

## Lillian Jackson v. Zinda Jackson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

"James v. Fairall, 168 Iowa 427, 431, 148 N. W. 1029, was an action to set aside a will. A devisee who had been made a party defendant filed a disclaimer and the action was dismissed as to him. The court held the circumstances indicated collusion with plaintiff and the dismissal did not have the effect of making his evidence competent."

"An article by Mason Ladd in 19 Iowa Law Review 521, 526, discusses the decisions and states:

"The statute excludes parties because they are parties and as distinguished from persons interested in the litigation. - - - The cases in the above situations have applied literally the statute which is apparently based on the theory that even nominal parties would be sufficiently concerned in the interests which they merely represent to be unsafe as witnesses.'

"In considering his competency under the dead man statute Updegraff as a witness may not be separated from Updegraff, executor. This court held in Schmid v. Kreisner, 31 Iowa 479, that while generally an administrator is a competent witness for the estate, he is not competent in a case where the adverse party is also an administrator."

Counsel for the plaintiff cites and relies upon the case of *In Re Van Alstine*, 26 Utah 193; 72 Pac. 942. The case of *In Re Van Alstine* does not support counsel's position for two reasons:

(1) Because the Van Alstine case is a case involving a will contest and the Utah Case of *Miller vs. Livingston*, 31 Utah 415; 88 Pac. 338, holds that a will contest is not within the statute and the guardian ad litem contesting the will is not within the class excluded. It is settled in this state by the *Livingston* case that a will contest is not within the statute. The case of *Miller vs. Livingston* was an action by the daughter against the administratrix of her father's estate to have the will revoked because of undue influence of the decedent's second wife, not the contestant's mother. The plaintiff called other daughters to testify as to conversations with and the conduct of the testator and they were not permitted to testify. The court held this to be error. The court in the case of *Miller vs. Livingston*, 88 Pac. 338, reading from pages 344 and 345, states:

"The statute in this regard is intended to protect the estates of deceased persons from assaults, 'and relates to proceedings wherein the decision sought by the party so testifying would tend to reduce or impair the estate, and does not relate to the relative rights of the heirs or devisees as to the distribution of an estate in a proceeding by which the estate itself is in no event to be reduced or impaired.' (Citing cases). These authorities, and other which can be cited, hold that the controversy such as here is between living parties, who, on the one side, are the devisees or legatees under the will, and on the other, the heirs at law of the testator. The former claim to take the estate under the will, the latter, under the statute regulating the descent of estates, insisting that the alleged will is a nullity. The act of the testator in making the alleged will is the only subject-matter of the investigation. The estate of the testator is not interested. The interests of those claiming to succeed to it either by operation of law or by operation of the will are

alone involved. The estate remains intact and undiminished whatever may be the result of the controversy, and the subject-matter of the investigation is not a transaction with nor a statement by the decedent. As to such an investigation, the parties to the suit and those interested in the result thereof are upon terms of equality in regard to the opportunity of giving testimony. Our conclusion, therefore, is that all the parties interested are competent to testify to any fact which is relevant and material to the issues involved, and that the court erred in excluding the proffered testimony." and,

(2) Because at the trial in the Van Alstine case when Dora S. Van Alstine, the guardian ad litem, was called as a witness for the minors, the only objection made to her competency as a witness was, reading from page 943:

"on the ground that under the provisions of Section 3348 of the Revised Statutes, if judgment should be rendered against the contestants of the will - - - cost might be assessed against her and she, therefore, had a direct interest in the event of the suit and was disqualified as a witness under Sub-division 3, paragraph 3413, Rev. St. 1898."

The objection was based entirely on the interest of the witness and not upon the fact that the witness was a party to the action, and the question of whether a party to an action is disqualified as a witness was never presented to nor decided by the court.

Counsel cites the case of Grieve vs. Howard, 54 Utah 225; 180 Pac. 423, as holding that, "Mack Howard, a defendant, was held to be qualified to testify because of the fact that he had no interest, a merely nominal defendant." We do not understand the Grieve case to hold as counsel states.

In the Grieve case a special administrator brought an action to set aside for undue influence in procuring it, a deed executed by the deceased to the defendant. The defendant sought to rule out testimony of the administrator as to transactions equally within his knowledge and that of the deceased. This was an attempt to close the mouth of one who endeavored to protect or increase the estate. The grantee attempted to use the rule in reverse. The statute was not applicable to make incompetent such witness.

Judge Thurman in the Grieve vs. Howard case, 180 Pac. 423, reading from page 429, says:

“ - - - A reasonably careful analysis of this statute will conclusively demonstrate that, in view of the relation and character of the parties, the matter was not within the statute. As we understand the situation, defendant was defending not as an heir of the deceased, but as a grantee under the deed executed by her. The relation was not such as to entitle him to object to the testimony on the grounds that it was prohibited by the statute. *Miller v. Livingstone*, 31 Utah at page 435, 88 Pac. 338; 40 Cyc. 2270 to 2275, inclusive.”

The last Utah case cited by counsel in his brief is the case of *Staats vs. Staats*, 63 Utah 470; 226 Pac. 677. In this case the testator's son, who was also the surviving partner, sued his mother and intervening brothers. The court in permitting the plaintiff and other heirs to testify concerning transactions with the deceased, reading from 226 Pac. at page 680 says:

“In view, therefore, that she is here claiming in her own right the other heirs are competent witnesses. - - - That the statute has no application where the controversy arises between or

among the heirs and merely involves questions relating to their respective rights as such and where there is no assault upon the estate.”

Judge Wolfe, in commenting upon the case of *Staats vs. Staats*, in *Maxfield vs. Sainsbury*, 172 Pac. (2d) 122 (Utah), and reading from page 131 states, that the *Staats* case is somewhat puzzling and concludes that the *Staats* case,

“appears to be technically wrong so far as correctly applying Section 104-49-2 (3), Utah Code Annotated 1943, is concerned.”

This Court in the case of *Wood vs. Fox*, 8 Utah 380, 32 Pac. 48, has held that an action to establish a resulting trust against the estate of a deceased person was a claim or demand against such estate. This case was carried to the Supreme Court of the United States and is reported in 17 Sup. Ct. 713, 41 L. Ed. 1145. The Supreme Court of the United States said, speaking through Justice Harlan:

“We cannot doubt that the claims as asserted in this suit by Whitney are within the meaning of the Utah statute, claims or demands against the estate of a deceased person. - - - The Supreme court of Utah properly rejected the suggestion that such claim or demand was not against the estate of Lawrence.”

The court held that the plaintiff was an incompetent witness as to testimony of transactions with the decedent.

We have copied from and we are grateful for the very scholarly discussions of the so-called “Dead Man Statute” in the article written by Mr. Justice Wolfe in 13 Rocky



Mountain Law Review, 282, (June, 1941) which also appeared in the Utah Bar Journal, Volume 11, July-August, 1941, Nos. 7 and 8. It has been of considerable assistance to us.

Plaintiff cites 58 Am. Jur., Section 282, which reads as follows:

“A statute disqualifying a ‘party’ from testifying as to transactions with a deceased person does not apply to one who is not a party or interested therein but is a mere witness. According to some authorities, although on its face the statute disqualifies every person who is made a party to the record, its application is limited to those persons who are properly joined as parties, and further to those of the proper parties to the record who are parties to the issue.”

To support the position that plaintiff is a competent witness and after citing the above section, counsel for plaintiff abruptly concludes in his brief at page 23 as follows:

“Thus it appears that the term ‘party’ is generally meant to include only those who are directly interested in the result of the suit.”

This is, however, not our statute. Our Dead Man Statute clearly makes incompetent (1) a party to any civil action, suit or proceeding, and it also makes incompetent (2) any person directly interested in the event thereof, and also makes incompetent (3) any person from, through or under whom such party or interested person derives his interest or title or any part thereof.



Under the plain reading of the Utah Dead Man Statute one does not have to have any direct interest in the result of the suit to be incompetent as a witness. It is sufficient to make one incompetent as a witness if one is a party to any civil action, suit or proceeding.

A careful reading of Section 282, above cited by the plaintiff, seems to be against plaintiff's position rather than for her. The last portion of the quoted section refers to **"parties to the issue."** Our Dead Man Statute says "a party to any civil action, suit or proceeding." We do not think the cited section applicable under our Dead Man Statute.

Plaintiff cites the Minnesota case of *Exsted vs. Exsted*, 202 Minn. 521, 279 N.W. 554, 117 A.L.R. 599. This case is not in point and does not sustain plaintiff's contention. The Minnesota Dead Man statute states: "It shall not be competent for any party to an action - - - to give evidence therein of or concerning any controversy - - - **relative to any matter at issue between the parties.**" 2 Masson's Minn. St. 1927, paragraph 9817 (MSA, paragraph 594.04). It has been held that the term "party to an action," under the above statute, **means a party to the issue to which the testimony relates, and not merely a party to the record,** *Bowers vs. Schuler*, 54 Minn. 99, 55 N.W. 817, and that an executor or administrator while a necessary party to the record is not a party to the issue, *Exsted vs. Exsted*, above cited. The *Exsted* case is, therefore, not in point under the

Utah Dead Man Statute. The two statutes are entirely different.

The case of Doty vs. Doty, 118 Kentucky 204, 80 S. W. 803, 2 L. R. A. (NS) 713, cited by plaintiff is not in point. The Kentucky dead man statute is entirely different and is in no way even similar to the Utah Dead Man Statute. The Kentucky statute provides, "No person shall testify for himself." Our statute says, "A party to any civil action, suit or proceeding," is incompetent as a witness. The Kentucky case is not in point under the Utah dead man statute. The two statutes are entirely different.

Lillian Jackson was therefore, an incompetent witness under the plain mandate of the Utah Dead Man Statute which declares that, "A party to any civil action, suit or proceeding," is incompetent as a witness.

We believe that from what we have said above it is conclusive that Lillian Jackson is an incompetent witness. However, we desire to call the Court's attention to the interest of the plaintiff in the result of this action and the peculiar manner in which this interest shows up. Plaintiff, in paragraph 4 of her Complaint, alleges, "That said decedent in his lifetime became indebted to **this plaintiff** and to her sons and daughters in the sum of \$24,500.00, such indebtedness to be paid upon the death of the decedent." (R. Page 1). Paragraph 5 of the Complaint says in part, "That on or about August 10, 1950, the plaintiff duly filed her claim against the said Sinda Jackson as Executrix of said estate for the sum of \$24,500." (R. page 1 and 2). Said claim filed by the plaintiff against the Executrix of said estate of John Jackson, deceased, says in part, "thus leaving

due to **this claimant and her children**, the real parties in interest," (R. Page 6) and again in said claim plaintiff says, "That the amount of the foregoing claim, to-wit: Twenty-four Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$24,500.00) is **justly due to said claimant and her children.**" (R. Page 6).

Said claim, upon which this action is based, was filed September 1, 1950, by Lillian Jackson for the benefit of herself and her children, namely, Belle Dennis, Jeanne Raab, **Fanny Jackson, a deceased daughter**, Joyce McKee Jesse Jackson, John Jackson, Jr., and Glenn Jackson.

Strange things went on in regard to the claims filed against the Estate of John Jackson, deceased. Lillian Jackson, the plaintiff, filed her claim upon which this action is brought on September 1, 1950, for and on behalf of herself and her seven children, as aforesaid, one of whom, Fanny Jackson, was dead. On October 16, 1950, Belle Dennis, Jeanne Raab, Joyce McKee, Jesse Jackson and Glenn Jackson, and on November 30, 1950, John Jackson, they being all of the living children of the plaintiff and the deceased, John Jackson, each filed separate identical claims against the Estate of John Jackson, deceased. A copy of said identical claims so filed by each of said children reads, except as to title of Court and cause and acknowledgement, as follows:

"By reason of a marriage settlement made between John Jackson deceased, and Lillian Jackson, former wife of John Jackson and the mother of this claimant, wherein and whereby the said John Jackson agreed with Lillian Jackson, as a part of said marriage settlement, that he would provide by will that claimant would receive the sum of ..... \$3,500.00

upon the death of the said John Jackson; which said will was duly executed on the 7th day of September, 1920, and duly filed with the clerk of the District Court of Grand County, State of Utah, a copy of said will being hereto attached and made a part of this claim.

“That there were seven sons and daughters of the said John Jackson and my mother Lillian Jackson, and it was provided in said will that each thereof should receive the sum of \$3500; that since the execution of said will one of the daughters has died, leaving one-sixth of her share of said bequest provided for in said will to this claimant—\$ 583.33

---

\$4,083.33

“Said gift and bequest in said will were made at the express request of my mother, Lillian Jackson, for our mutual benefit, and in lieu of any provisions for the support, education, comfort and maintenance of the children of said John Jackson and Lillian Jackson.”

That each and all of said claims, except the claim of John Jackson, were rejected on October 16, 1950, and notice of rejection was duly served and filed October 16, 1950, with the Clerk of the Court; that the claim of John Jackson was rejected on the 30th day of November, 1950; that notice of rejection of said claim was duly served and filed November 30, 1950, with the Clerk of the Court; that the time for presenting claims against the Estate of John Jackson, deceased, expired on the 10th day of October, A. D. 1950; Decree establishing due and legal notice to creditors in the Estate of John Jackson, deceased, was duly made and entered by the Court on the 26th day of January, 1951. Each and all of said claims were rejected by the Executrix of the Estate of John Jackson, deceased;

notice of rejection of each of said claims was duly served and filed with the Clerk of the Court; more than three months have expired since the serving and filing of each of such notices of Rejection; no suit has ever been filed in any Court whatsoever against the Executrix of the Estate of John Jackson, deceased, by any of said living children on any of said claims so presented, rejected and filed.

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